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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
EASTERN DISTRICT OF TENNESSEE 

AT KNOXVILLE 
 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA  ) 
      )  No. 3:12-CR-00107 
v.      )               
      ) Hon. Amul R. Thapar, USDJ 
MICHAEL R. WALLI,   ) Hon. C. Clifford Shirley, Jr., USMJ 
MEGAN RICE, and    )  
GREG BOERTJE-OBED   )       
 
 

SENTENCING MEMORANDUM FOR MICHAEL WALLI 
 
  Defendant, Michael Walli, files this sentencing memorandum and requests that this Court 

impose a downward departure and/or variance in this case from the recommended guideline 

range of 92-115 months imprisonment.  As set forth in detail below, Mr. Walli’s upstanding 

moral character, the devotion of his life to serving his community and to peace, the nonviolent 

and symbolic nature of the offense itself, the overwhelming amount of support both nationally 

and globally for defendants in this case, and the institution of significant downward departures in 

two nearly identical cases, all demonstrate the need for a downward departure and/or variance in 

this case.  Given these reasons, a sentence of time served would be “sufficient, but not greater 

than necessary” to comply with the goals of sentencing.  See 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).  Alternatively, 

a sentence of one-year total imprisonment or in accordance with the sentences issued in the cases 

nearly identical to this one1 would likewise be sufficient in this case. 

 

 

 

                                                        
1 As set forth in Section IV, sentences for the five defendants in United States v. Platte and 
United States v. Sicken convicted of the same offenses as Mr. Walli ranged from 31-41 months 
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I.  Background 

Michael Walli is a sixty-five year old man who has devoted the greater part of his life to 

serving his community and helping others, as well as to working for global peace and the 

eradication of nuclear weapons. 

On July 28, 2012, Mr. Walli, as well as his two codefendants Sister Megan Rice and Greg 

Boertje-Obed, cut through four fences in a several hour walk into the Oak Ridge Y-12 Nuclear 

facility.  Upon arriving at the Highly Enriched Uranium Materials building, they engaged in 

nonviolent and symbolic acts of protest, such as hanging banners, painting slogans, and singing 

songs, symbolically disarming the building and its surroundings.  Defendants acted out of 

conscience and their belief in the illegality and fundamental immorality of nuclear weapons.   

The three defendants were originally charged by a Grand Jury on August 7, 2012 on three 

counts: (1) depredation against government property under 18 U.S.C. § 1361; (2) attempting to 

injure property in the special maritime and territorial jurisdiction of the United States under 18 

U.S.C. § 1363; and (3) misdemeanor trespass under 42 U.S.C. §2278a(c), 10 C.F.R. §§ 860.3 and 

860.5(b).  See Indictment, Doc. 2.  After Defendants refused to plead guilty to these charges and 

instead exercised their constitutional right to trial, the United States recharged defendants in a 

Superseding Indictment with the additional, more serious crime of sabotage of national defense 

under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a).2  See Superseding Indictment, Doc. 55.   

 Mr. Walli and his two codefendants were tried in May of 2013.  They were convicted by 

a jury of two Counts: (1) depredation against government property under 18 U.S.C. § 1361 and 

(2) sabotage of the national defense under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a). Defendants were immediately 

                                                        
2 This charge replaced the charge of misdemeanor trespass under 42 U.S.C. §2278a(c), 10 C.F.R. 
§§ 860.3 and 860.5(b) in the original indictment [Doc. 2].   
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taken into custody and placed in jail.  Mr. Walli has been in prison ever since—approximately 

seven and a half months. 

 

II.   Over 2,000 Letters of Support Written on Behalf of Defendants from Across 
the World  

 
Since their conviction, thousands of letters of support have been written to this Court on 

behalf of Mr. Walli and his two codefendants.  To date, Defendants have received a total of 

2,166 letters and postcards of support.3  These letters and postcards of support have been scanned 

and attached to this sentencing memorandum for the convenience of this Court.4  Note that these 

support letters are for all three Defendants and should be equally incorporated in the sentencing 

considerations for Sr. Rice and Mr. Boertje-Obed as well. 

These 2,166 letters and postcards hail from both across the United States and across the 

world.  They come from 45 different states,5 Washington D.C., and Puerto Rico, as well as 16 

foreign countries, including New Zealand, Canada, Japan, the United Kingdom, Nigeria, 

Netherlands, Iraq, France, Estonia, Belgium, Austria, Ireland, Mexico, Australia, Northern 

Ireland, and Germany.   

                                                        
3 As of January 3, 2014, 242 letters and 1,924 postcards expressing support for the Defendants in 
this matter have been received.  These letters and postcards were addressed to the Honorable 
Amul R. Thapar, and sent care of Professor Bill Quigley to the Loyola Law Clinic in New 
Orleans, in order to be submitted as a group to this Court.  They have been scanned for the 
convenience of this Court to be submitted electronically.  The hardcopies will be delivered 
separately by counsel.  This number does not include the letters sent directly to the Court. 
4 See Attachments 2 – 255.  Attachment 2 is a sample postcard.  Attachments 3 – 15 are scanned 
sheets of the received postcards.  Attachments 16 – 257 are the letters of support received.  Some 
of these may have to be attached in a supplemental memorandum.  
5 The 45 states are:  Alabama, Alaska, Arizona, California, Colorado, Connecticut, Delaware, 
Florida, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Indiana, Iowa, Kansas, Kentucky, Louisiana, Maine, 
Maryland, Massachusetts, Michigan, Minnesota, Missouri, Nebraska, Nevada, New Hampshire, 
New Jersey, New Mexico, New York, North Carolina, North Dakota, Ohio, Oklahoma, Oregon, 
Pennsylvania, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont, Virginia, Washington, West 
Virginia, Wisconsin, Wyoming.  
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This overwhelming support comes from both those who know Mr. Walli and his 

codefendants personally, as well as those that have been touched by their work and believe in 

their peaceful, anti-nuclear cause.  These letters emphasize the nonviolent nature of Defendants’ 

action, the fact that Defendants sought only to make the world safer for everyone, and attest to 

the good moral character of each of the Defendants.  They ask the Court to bring justice to this 

matter by considering a downward departure from the high sentencing guidelines Defendants are 

facing. 

 
III.  Federal Sentencing Guidelines are Advisory 
 

In the 2005 case United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. 220 (2005), the U.S. Supreme Court 

held that the mandatory Sentencing Guidelines system formerly in place violated the Sixth 

Amendment. 543 U.S. at 226-27.  As a remedy, the Court severed and excised the statutory 

provision that made the Sentencing Guidelines mandatory, 18 U.S.C. § 3553(b)(1), thereby 

making the Guidelines merely advisory:   

So modified, the federal sentencing statute . . . makes the Guidelines effectively 
advisory. It requires a sentencing court to consider Guidelines ranges, see 18 
U.S.C.A. § 3553(a)(4) (Supp.2004), but it permits the court to tailor the sentence 
in light of other statutory concerns as well, see § 3553(a). 

 
See Booker, 543 U.S. at 245.  As such, “in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), the Guidelines, 

formerly mandatory, now serve as one factor among several courts must consider in determining 

an appropriate sentence.” Kimbrough v. United States, 552 U.S. 85, 90-91 (2007). 

Under 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a), sentencing courts are directed to “impose a sentence 

sufficient, but not greater than necessary, to comply with the purposes set forth in paragraph (2) 

of the subsection.”  Section 3553(a)(2) states that such purposes of sentencing are: “to reflect the 

seriousness of the offense,” “to promote respect for the law,” “to provide just punishment for the 
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offense,” “to afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct,” and “to protect the public from 

further crimes of the defendant.”   

In determining whether a sentence is “sufficient, but not greater than necessary,” to 

achieve the goals of sentencing, the courts are to consider, pursuant to § 3553(a), the following 

factors: (1) The nature and circumstances of the offense and the history and characteristics of the 

defendant; (2) The need for the sentence imposed; (3) The kinds of sentences available; (4) The 

kinds of sentences and the sentencing range as set forth in the guidelines; (5) Any pertinent 

policy statement issued by the Sentencing Commission; (6) The need to avoid unwarranted 

sentence disparities among defendants with similar records who have been found guilty of 

similar conduct; and (7) The need to provide restitution to any victims of the offense.  See 18 

U.S.C. § 3553(a). 

In order to help sentencing courts apply the new advisory Guidelines, the U.S. Supreme 

Court directed in Gall v. United States: 

[A] district court should begin all sentencing proceedings by correctly calculating 
the applicable Guidelines range. As a matter of administration and to secure 
nationwide consistency, the Guidelines should be the starting point and the initial 
benchmark. The Guidelines are not the only consideration, however. Accordingly, 
after giving both parties an opportunity to argue for whatever sentence they deem 
appropriate, the district judge should then consider all of the § 3553(a) factors to 
determine whether they support the sentence requested by a party. In so doing, he 
may not presume that the Guidelines range is reasonable. He must make an 
individualized assessment based on the facts presented. 
 

552 U.S. 38, 49-50 (2007) (internal citations omitted).  Therefore, the sentencing court must first 

properly determine the guideline range, and then, after an individualized assessment of the case, 

determine whether to apply any (1) departures or (2) variances pursuant 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a).   

In this case, Mr. Walli’s Presentence Investigation Report gives an advisory, initial 

guideline range of 92-115 months imprisonment. However, as set forth below, the facts of this 
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case warrant a significant downward departure and/or variance from this range.   

 
IV.  A Downward Departure Is Warranted in this Case Based on the Nearly 
Identical Tenth Circuit Cases of United States v. Sicken and United States v. Platte 
 
 The sentencing of civilian peace protestors charged and convicted of national defense 

sabotage under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a) is a matter of first impression in the Sixth Circuit.  In fact, 

there are only a handful of cases across the country in which peaceful and symbolic protestors 

have been charged, convicted, and sentenced under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a).  As set forth below, in 

two of these cases, the sentencing court determined that a significant downward departure from 

the sentencing guidelines was warranted based on the specific and unique nature of these cases.  

For the same reasons, a similar downward departure is warranted in this case.  

 

     A.  United States v. Sicken,  223 F.3d 1169 (10th Cir. 2000) 
 

In a case nearly factually identical to the one at hand out of the District of Colorado, two 

anti-nuclear protestors and members of the Plowshares Movement, Daniel Sicken and Oliver 

Coe, broke into a nuclear missile facility in Weld County, Colorado by cutting barbed wire and 

scaling a fence for the purpose of performing an anti-nuclear protest by “disarming nonviolently 

and symbolically.”  United States v. Sicken, 223 F.3d 1169, 1170 (10th Cir. 2000).  At the site, 

Defendants hung banners, used spray paint mixed with blood to paint slogans, hammered and 

chiseled, and waited to be arrested.  Id. at 1170-71.  The two defendants were charged and 

convicted by a jury of three counts: (1) conspiracy to injure, destroy, and contaminate national 

defense materials and premises of the United States with intent to injure, interfere with, and 

obstruct the national defense of the United States in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2155; (2) willful 

and unlawful destruction of national defense materials and premises in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 
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2155(a), otherwise known as sabotage; and (3) willful and unlawful destruction of United States 

property in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1361.”  Id. at 1171. 

At sentencing, the District Court adopted the base offense level of 26 as dictated by 

Section 2M2.3 of the United States Sentencing Guidelines.6  Id.  However, the Court concluded 

that this situation warranted a downward departure pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5K2.0 because there 

were numerous mitigating circumstances present in this case that were not adequately taken into 

consideration under the applicable Guidelines.  Id. at 1172.  First, the District Court found that 

there was no real historical record to determine the “heartland” of these cases involving 

sentences for civilian sabotage under 18 U.S.C. § 2155 and U.S.S.G. § 2M2.3.  Id.  Next, the 

Court found there were no Offense Severity Gradations in § 2M2.3, leaving sentencing courts 

without the discretion to be able to distinguish between the little or no harm to national security 

caused by a peace-time protest and the harm caused by a major destructive act in wartime.  Id.  

The District Court further noted “there is a clear difference between ‘an act of protest, which this 

clearly was, in peacetime as opposed to an act of sabotage during war,’ that the acts caused some 

harm but there was no substantial risk of death or injury, and that there was no ‘truly significant 

or substantial risk’ to national security.”  Id. 

As a result of these findings, the Court granted a four-level downward departure and 

imposed sentences of 41 months for Defendant Sicken and 30 months for Defendant Coe.  

Following an appeal by the United States, the Tenth Circuit upheld the sentences and the District 

Court’s downward departure under 5K2.0, stating: “It is clear that the court departed because 

Defendants’ conduct, while causing more than symbolic property damage, was an act of protest 

that did not present a significant risk of injury or threat to national security.”  Id. at 1177. 

                                                        
6 Note that the District Court immediately reduced Defendants’ base offense levels by three 
based on Defendants’ acceptance of responsibility under § 3E1.1.  
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     B.  United States v. Platte, 401 F.3d 1176 (10th Cir. 2005)  
 
 In a second case out of the District of Colorado nearly factually identical to this one, and 

one that has been frequently referenced throughout the course of this case, the sentencing court 

likewise instituted a downward departure from the recommended guideline range.  In United 

States v. Platte, three nuns entered the same Minuteman III Missile site in Weld County, 

Colorado in an effort “to expose the existence of this deadly weapon [the missile]—and their 

good faith belief in its criminality—to public scrutiny.”  Platte, 401 F.3d 1176, 1178 (10th Cir. 

2005).  After cutting through fences, Defendants engaged in symbolic, ceremonial acts of 

pouring blood and tapping hammers on the rails supporting the blast lid.  Id.  Defendants were 

charged and convicted of sabotage under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a) and depredation against 

government property under 18 U.S.C. § 1361.  Id. at 1179. 

Like in Sicken, at sentencing, the District Court started with the base offense level of 26 

pursuant to U.S.S.G § 2M2.3.  However, District Court Judge Robert Blackburn instituted an 

eight-level downward departure for each of the Defendants pursuant to U.S.S.G §§ 5K2.0 and 

5H1.11.  The written Judgments entered on July 25, 2003 give the following two reasons for this 

departure: 

Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5K2.0 and the decision in U.S. v. Sicken, 223 F.3d 1169 
(10th Cir. 2000), the offense conduct falls outside the “heartland” and a six-level 
downward departure is warranted. 
 
Pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 5H1.11, Military, Civic, Charitable, Public Service, 
Employment Related Contributions and Similar Prior Good works, a two-level 
downward departure is warranted.  The defendant’s long history of community 
service and community support was detailed at trial and is corroborated by the 
myriad letters sent to the court and the probation department on her behalf.  
Therefore, the Defendant’s extraordinary and exemplary civic and community 
service supports a downward departure. 
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The foregoing departures, in combination, result in an offense level of 18.  An 
offense level of 18, with a criminal history category of IV, results in a guideline 
range of imprisonment of 41 to 51 months and a fine range of $6,000 to $60,000. 
 

See Attachment 1, Judgment, United States v. Ardeth Platte, 02-CR-509, July 25, 2003. 
 
 Note that this quoted sentencing Judgment is for Sister Ardeth Platte, who, like Mr. Walli 

in this case, had a criminal history level of IV.  Judge Blackburn sentenced Sr. Platte to the lower 

end of the 41-51 months range, giving her 41 months in jail.  After instituting similar eight-level 

departures for Sr. Platte’s two codefendants (who had lesser levels of criminal history), he 

sentenced Sr. Hudson to 30 months and Sr. Gilbert to 33 months.  See United States v. Platte, 

401 F.3d 1176, 1179 (10th Cir. 2005). 

 

C.  Based on Sicken and Platte, a Downward Departure Pursuant to U.S.S.G. §§ 
5K2.0 and 5H1.11 Is Warranted in This Case 

 
Based on the above cases, it follows that Mr. Walli and his two codefendants likewise 

qualify for a significant downward departure in this case.  The facts of this case, including the 

symbolic actions taken by defendants, their nonviolent nature, defendants’ purpose in taking 

such actions, and the offenses for which they were ultimately convicted, are nearly identical to 

those in Sicken and Platte.  Because of this, the reasoning given by the sentencing courts in 

Sicken and Platte justifying their downward departures is similarly applicable here. 

First, as three of the mere handful of civilian protestors who have ever been charged and 

convicted of sabotage under 18 U.S.C. § 2155(a), Mr. Walli and his codefendants’ actions in this 

case fall outside the “heartland” of the particular sentencing guideline in this case, § 2M2.3.  

Furthermore, § 2M2.3 does not provide any type of offense gradation or other provision that 

would allow a sentencing court to make a distinction between terrorists intent on harming the 

United States and nonviolent peace activists engaged in civil disobedience who present no 
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significant harm or risk of harm to the national defense.  As it still currently exists, Section 

2M2.3 lumps these two distinct types of defendants together and effectively recommends the 

same guideline range for both.  As the Courts in Sicken and Platte held, this is unjust and 

warrants a downward departure under § 5K2.0. 

This Court has similarly recognized the distinction between the defendants in this case 

versus the “paradigmatic saboteur.”  See Memorandum and Order Denying Defendants’ Rule 29 

and 33 Motions, Doc 239, p. 8 (“Of course, the defendants’ non-violence will be relevant at 

sentencing. . . . Given the obvious differences between the defendants and the paradigmatic 

saboteur, those factors surely will be worthy of discussion.”).  Furthermore, at the May 9, 2013 

Detention Hearing following Defendants’ trial, in the context of post-conviction detention, this 

Court expressed its disbelief that Congress would not allow a Court to distinguish between 

terrorists and peace activists.  See Transcript of Detention Hearing, May 9, 2013, Doc. 254, p. 

19-20 (“All I'm saying is they gave us no liberty to distinguish between terrorists and peace 

activists. I mean, the government could charge -- Al Qaeda could have done the same thing and 

come in, and you could have stopped them at the fence. Let's say you arrested them, and they got 

convicted. You would agree with me that they're in no different procedural posture at that point 

than peace activists?”).  

As such, because it is of the utmost importance to be able to distinguish between peace 

activist defendants like in this case versus terrorists who actually intend to harm the national 

defense of the United States, it follows that this Court should institute a similar downward 

departure based on § 5K2.0 for Mr. Walli and his codefendants. 

Finally, as set forth in detail in Section V(A) below, because Mr. Walli, like the nuns in 

Platte, also has an outstanding history of service to his community as detailed at trial and the 
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thousands of support letters this Court has received, a downward departure based on § 5H1.11 is 

also warranted. 

 
V.  Mr. Walli Qualifies for a Downward Variance Pursuant to the Section 
3553(a) Factors 
 

In addition to considering whether to institute any downward departures, the sentencing 

court must also consider all the factors set forth in 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) as a whole to determine 

whether a variance is warranted in the particular case.  The over-arching provision of 18 U.S.C. § 

3553(a) is to ensure that a defendant receives a sentence that is “sufficient, but not greater than 

necessary” to meet the goals of sentencing established by Congress.   

In the case at hand, in addition to the departures discussed above, Mr. Walli also qualifies 

for a downward variance in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 3553(a) based on the history and 

characteristics of the defendant, the nature and circumstances of the offense, the need for the 

sentence imposed, and the need to avoid unwarranted sentencing disparities.  Each of these is 

discussed in detail below. 

 
     A.  History and Characteristics of Defendant 
 
 Mr. Walli is a sixty-five year old man who has committed his life to helping others and 

working towards peace.  Growing up in rural Michigan as one of fourteen children, Mr. Walli 

testified at trial that he was not a very good student and that when he was eighteen he was 

drafted by the U.S. Army.  See Trial Transcript Day 3, Doc. 193, p. 44-45.  Mr. Walli served in 

the U.S. Army from 1967 to 1970, spending two of his “growing-up years” in Vietnam, until he 

was honorably discharged at the age of 21.  Id. 

Mr. Walli reported at trial that his experiences during the Vietnam War, religion, and 

figures such as Martin Luther King, Jr. and Dorothy Day, have all influenced his decision to 
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devote most of his adult life to service and to working for peace.  Since 1979, Mr. Walli has been 

doing volunteer work for various churches all over the country.  

Mr. Walli currently resides at the Dorothy Day Catholic Worker House (DDCWH) in 

Washington, D.C.  The Presentence Investigation Report indicated that, “As a volunteer worker 

at the Dorothy Day Catholic Worker House (DDCWH), the defendant participates in 

demonstrations at times, but he works hard helping others in the local community.”  See 

Presentence Investigation Report, p. 21.  Kathy Boylan, who also resides at the DDCWH, and 

who has known defendant for approximately 20 years, reported that Mr. Walli “constantly seeks 

out opportunities to help others, and characterized him as being dedicated, an extremely hard 

worker, and a wonderful human being.  She advised the defendant has voluntarily helped others 

in the area, and the community in general. . . .”  See id. 

Mr. Walli has no assets and lives off of a $20 per week stipend.  The Presentence 

Investigation Report states that “the defendant volunteers all of his time to helping those in the 

community, in their neighborhood, and participating in demonstrations, free of pay.” 

Acting out of conscience and his belief in peace and the illegality of nuclear weapons, 

Mr. Walli has been involved in a number of protests throughout the country, and has engaged in 

previous acts of nonviolent civil disobedience in the spirit of Martin Luther King, Jr. and Rosa 

Parks.  All of the offenses listed in Mr. Walli’s criminal history involve nonviolent, peaceful acts 

of protest and/or civil disobedience.   

Thus, although Mr. Walli has a number of previous arrests and convictions, the Level IV 

Criminal History assigned to him by the Presentence Investigation Report is really an 

overstatement of the severity of Mr. Walli’s criminal history.  He has never been involved in a 

crime of violence and he does not represent a danger or threat to society.  As the Sixth Circuit 
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has previously held, “[i]n appropriate cases . . . a district court may conclude that the criminal 

history category overstates the severity of the defendant's criminal history or that a lower 

sentence would still comply with and serve the mandates of section 3553(a). That is, a district 

court may look beneath the specific criminal history score and advisory guideline calculation to 

reach the appropriate sentence.” See United States v. Collington, 461 F.3d 805, 808-809 (6th Cir. 

2006) (quoting United States v. Martin, 438 F.3d 621, 642 (6th Cir. 2006)).   

As such, based on Mr. Walli’s good character as attested to in the Presentence Report and 

by letters and statements from members of his community, the devotion of his life to volunteer 

work, helping others and serving his community, and the nonviolent nature of his prior criminal 

history, a downward variance is warranted in this case. 

 

     B.  The Nature of the Offense  

Mr. Walli and his two codefendants entered Y-12 National Security Complex on July 28, 

2012 in an act of nonviolent civil disobedience.  They cut through four fences and walked to the 

HEUMF building where they engaged in nonviolent and symbolic acts in protest of the United 

States policy on and continued production and storage of nuclear weapons.  Defendants hung 

banners, painted signs, poured blood, tapped on the outside of the building with a hammer, sang 

songs, prayed, and waited to be arrested.  Defendants carried no weapons with them, but instead 

brought white roses, Bibles, bread, and candles.  No one was injured.  

The nonviolent nature of defendants’ actions in this case is very important.  As this Court 

has pointed out, defendants in this case do not represent the “paradigmatic saboteurs,” yet the 

statute governing sentencing for sabotage convictions does not set any gradations or distinctions 

between peace activists like Defendants engaging in nonviolent protest and terrorists intending to 
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harm the national security of the United States.  As such, in theory, under the guidelines, 

defendants in this case would receive the same sentences as actual terrorists who acted with the 

intent to harm to United States.  Therefore, it is imperative in this instance to sentence defendant 

in a way that accurately reflects this distinction.   

As such, the nonviolent nature of Mr. Walli’s actions in this case warrants a downward 

variance in his sentence. 

 
 
     C.  The Need for the Sentence Imposed 
 

The second factor listed under Section 3553(a) for Courts to look at when determining an 

individual’s sentence is: “The need for the sentence imposed (A) to reflect the seriousness of the 

offense, to promote respect for the law, and to provide just punishment for the offense; (B) to 

afford adequate deterrence to criminal conduct; (C) to protect the public from further crimes of 

the defendant; and (D) to provide the defendant with the needed education or vocational training, 

medical care, or other correctional treatment in the most effective manner.”  See 18 U.S.C. § 

3553(a)(2).  These all help the sentencing Court to determine a sentence that is “sufficient, but 

not greater than necessary” for an individual defendant. 

The recommended guideline range of 92-115 months imprisonment, or seven and a half 

to nine and half years, is greater than necessary to adequately punish Mr. Walli for the actions he 

took in this case.  As noted above, Mr. Walli engaged in a nonviolent act of civil disobedience.  

He cut through fences, spray painted walls, hung banners, sang songs, and engaged in other 

similar symbolic actions in an effort to transform U.S. policy on and production of nuclear 

weapons into some life-sustaining alternative.  He carried no weapons.  No one was injured.  He 

did not intend to harm the national security of the United States, nor was there any real damage 
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to the national security of the United States.  He acted, in his belief, to prevent the greater crimes 

perpetuated by the use of nuclear weapons.  Given these facts, especially the nonviolent nature of 

Mr. Walli’s actions, a prison term of 7.5-9.5 years is extremely high. 

Mr. Walli has been in jail for seven and a half months now awaiting sentencing.  This 

time served, followed by an assigned period of supervised release, would be sufficient to provide 

just punishment for Mr. Walli’s actions of protest, to reflect the seriousness of the crime 

committed in this case, and to promote respect for the law.   

 
 

D.  The Need to Avoid Unwarranted Sentence Disparities  
 

Finally, under Section 3553(a)(6), a sentencing court must consider “the need to avoid 

unwarranted sentence disparities among defendants with similar records who have been found 

guilty of similar conduct.”  As set forth in Section IV above, the nonviolent and symbolic nuclear 

protestors convicted of sabotage in Sicken, and subsequently Platte, were all sentenced in the 

range of 30-41 months imprisonment.  This is a third of the prison time recommended by the 

guidelines in Mr. Walli’s Presentence Investigation Report.  In fact, in United States v. Platte, Sr. 

Ardeth Platte, who was convicted of the exact same two offenses as Mr. Walli, and who was 

determined to have the exact same criminal history level as Mr. Walli (Level IV), received 41 

months imprisonment.   

The sentencing courts in Sicken and Platte started with the same offense level as Mr. 

Walli’s Presentence Investigation Report assigned, 26, and thus with similar high guideline 

ranges (varying depending on each defendant’s criminal history), but significantly departed from 

that recommended range based on a number of factors that are equally present in the instant case, 

including the nonviolent nature of the offense, the fact that defendants were peace activists, not 
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terrorists, and caused little or no harm to the national security, and the defendants’ history of 

outstanding community service and contribution to society.   

As such, it follows that in order to avoid unwarranted sentencing disparities amongst the 

handful of cases dealing with civilian peace activists convicted of sabotage, Mr. Walli’s sentence 

should be likewise severely reduced from the recommended guideline range. 

 

IV.  Conclusion 

Based on the foregoing, a sentence of time served in this case would be “sufficient, but 

not greater than necessary” to achieve the sentencing goals of Congress.  Alternatively, a total 

sentence of one year or sentences similar to those imposed in Platte and Sicken would likewise 

be sufficient to achieve the sentencing goals in this case. 

 

 
 

Respectfully submitted, 

s/ William P Quigley 
William P. Quigley, admitted pro hac vice 
Loyola University New Orleans 
7214 St. Charles Avenue 
New Orleans, LA 70118 
Quigley77@gmail.com 
504-710-3074 
    
 
s/ Christopher Scott Irwin 
Christopher Scott Irwin 
BPR #025478 
POB 20363 
Knoxville, TN 37920 
(865) 257-4029 
christopherscottirwin@yahoo.com 
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 I hereby certify that a copy of this document was filed electronically.  Notice of this filing 

will be sent by operation of the Court’s electronic filing system to all the parties indicated on the 

electronic filing receipt.  All other parties will be served by regular U.S. Mail.  Parties may 

access this filing through the Court’s electronic filing system. 

 
s/ William Quigley 

 
 

Case 3:12-cr-00107-ART-CCS   Document 258   Filed 01/04/14   Page 17 of 17   PageID #:
 2522


